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1. Introduction

The city of Bargala was founded in the eastern part of modern-day Republic of
Macedonia, 17 km in northeastern direction from the modem city of Stip. The city was
located at the foot of the Plackovica Mountain and on the right bank of the Kozjacka
Reka River. The locals of the near-by village of Goren Kozjak called the site by the
name of “Kale”.

The first knowledge on the city is given by R. Grujicl who wrote on the
existence of archaeological remnants, S. Mihailov2informs us on the church of St.
George and I. Venedicov3reveals the stone block with inscriptions mentioning the city
of Bargala. Concerning the contemporary written sources, the Council of Chalcedon’s
actae refer to Bargala as the archbishop see of the Province of Macedonia Prima4
and its archbishop Dardanius; then in Hierokles’ Synekdemos-by the end of the fifth
century AD, Bargala belonged to the Province of Macedonia Secunda5and the last
reference is in the vitae of the 15 Martyrs of Tiberiopolis.6

The Late Antique and Early Christian Centre of Bargala was discovered and
located by B. Aleksova in the distant year of 1967, when the first archaeological
excavations of the Episcopeum were executed. Since 1995 onwards, the scope of the
excavations was widened to include the fortification7and from 2005 onwards, the
excavations of the central area introduced a new cultural horizon with the discovery
ofthe City Basilica8and a complex of living quarters.

The wine is one of the oldest and most famous alcoholic beverages known
to man on the territory of modem-day Republic of Macedonia, as well as to other
regions worldwide. The wine production excelled in regions with suitable climate for

1Tpyjuk, 1955:212-215
2 Minxajnos, 1949: 4-19
3 BeHevikos, 1943: 4-19
4 1bid., 1948: 82

5 Manasorny, 1957: 256
6 Ariekcosa, 1967: 74-83
7 Haues, 2007: ?

8 Haues 1 Ppros, 2010:?
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it. @The first known wine production comes from Anatolia in the Third Millennium
B O and during the Early Bronze Age wine was produced in the Tell Ta’annek region
in Palestinell Wine was produced in other regions as well, in atime span ranging from
the Iron Age to Late Antiquity.

On the territory of Republic of Macedonia, the oldest stone wine presses (Fig.
1) were found on the site of “Gomo Pole”, in the vicinity ofvillage of Star Karaorman.
Their dating belongs to the Iron Age, in the period between the eight and the sixth
century AD.2Several wine presses carved in bedrock are known from the region of
Pelagonia®B as well as two built with masonry-one dated to the Roman Period4and
one belonging to the Late Antiquity® Two wine presses were found at the site of
Stobi, thus they belong in the region of Povardarie (the Valley of VVardar River.)

The wine presses found at the city of Bargala and its winery will be further
elaborated in this text and attempts will be made to find the proper analogies among
the finds of wine presses and wineries from the Balkans and worldwide.

2. The Winery

The wards used for wine production (Fig. 2) were located in the northeastern
wing of the Episcopal Residence’s living quarters. Up to the second half of the
sixth century AD, this section belonged to the luxurious complex of the Episcopal
Residence. After the frequent raids of the Avars and Slavs in the second half of the
sixth century AD, two thirds ofthese living quarters were converted into a production
section, completed with a winery, a glass workshop, a large bread oven and a horreum
(a warehouse with 16 pithoi for grain storage.) Ofthe luxurious Episcopal Residence,
only the main hall with two smaller wards used for preparing and storing food remained,
as well as three wards of the northwestern wing which were used as living gauters.

The winery took three wards ofthe northeastern wing of Episcopal Residence’s
living quarters, with the total surface of 152 m2(See Plan 1.) The wards were rendered
successively, due to the production process.

21.  Wardl

The ward is rectangular in shape, with dimensions 5, 75 x 1, 85 m. The ward
was built in the middle of the sixth c. AD, with the purpose to receive the grapes
after harvesting. The wall dividing Ward 1 and Ward 2 has special openings, used for
processing the grapes to the wine presses. The entrance in the ward has not been found
and the receiving of the grapes was probably executed over the southeastern wall,
which had height of 0, 70 m.

9 The grapevines do not require a specific soil as they require a climate with hot summers and frigid winters. The
modern-day Republic of Macedonia has several renowned wine regions: the valley of the Vardar River, the region
of TikveS and the middle stream region of the Bregalnica River, where the Late Antique city of Bargala was situ-
ated.

10 Gomi, 1996: 133-171

11 Lapp, 1969:12 5

12 The stone wine presses were discovered by the colleague Mitko Sterjov in 2007, during the project for protec-
tive archaeological excavations on the sites endangered by the construction of the water supply system “Zletovica.”
These stone wine presses are not published before and they are still subjected to scientific research.

13 MuTkKocku, 1988:

14Kenecku, 1976: 143-157

15 Kenecku J1.-K., 2006: 425-439



Folia archaeologica Balkanica |1, 2011 415

The great number of finds of glass fragments introduces the possibility that
this ward was multifunctional one-during the specific month of the year, it was used
for receiving/storage of grapes and the rest of time it was used as an additional space
for the glass workshop.b

22.  Ward2

This ward also has a rectangular shape, with the dimensions of 7, 15 x 5, 75
m. The ward was entered through a porch, with width of 1, 50 m. It has two levels; the
upper level held the two built-in presses in the southeastern wall, while the lower level
held stone vessels for collecting the residue. Only one of these vessels is preserved.

The first press (Fig. 5) has rectangular shape and dimensions of 3, 10x2, 20
x 0, 20 m. It was located in the northeastern comer of the ward. The second press
(Fig. 6) has the same form and dimensions of 2, 60 x 2, 40 x 0, 20 m and it was
located in the southeastern comer. Due to the proximity of the entrance and the lack
of space because of it, the second press is 50 cm smaller than the first one. The space
between the presses has the dimensions 0f2, 60 x 1, 20 m. The floor of this space was
covered with yellowish, compact clay. The constmction method used for the wards is
presented on Fig. 7

16 The wards for wine production were found during the archaeological excavations of 2007-2010, under the
supervision of Trajée Nacev.



BuHapujaTta of 4OLHOAHTUYKKOT rpag baprana

Bo baprana, efeH of ronemute ypbaHu LEHTPU CO MHOTYBEKOBHA UCTOPWja,
Gellie NpoHajaeH 06jeKT KOj yKaXKyBa Ha MOXHaTta npoAykuuja Ha BUHO. OBOj 06jeKT
ce Haofay BO CEeBEPOMCTOYHOTO KPU/IO Ha KOMMNEKCOT 3a XMBeekwe Ha Ennckonckara
pesngeHuuja. Ce go BTopaTta nososuHa Ha VI-not Bek, Ennckornckara pesmgeHuunja
npunarana Ha Ha ENWCKONCKUOT NyKCy3eH KoMmmMnekc. Mocne )pekBEHTHUTE Hanaam
Ha CnoseHn 1 FoT1 BO 0 BTOpaTa nosioBMHa Ha V I-1oT Bek, iBE TPETUHM O KOMMEKCOT
3a fomyBake Ha Enuckonckata pe3ugeHumnja 6un npeHaMeHeT BO NMPOM3BOACTBEHA
eMHMLA: BWHapuja, paboTuNHMLA 3a CTakno, ronema ypHa 3a ne6 m horreum
(npocTopuja co NnpoHajaeHn 16 cafa 3a cknajupare Ha XXUTapKu.)

CeT0 0Ba yKaxkyBa [leKa BUHCKMOT pernoH bperanHuua, co oarnegyBaweto Ha
BMHCKMN /103U 1 NPOM3BOACTBO Ha BUHO MMa KOHTUHYUTET KOj NOYHYBaA Of Xene3HoTo
gpeme (VIII-VI BeK) v nNpofo/XyBa HWU3 aHTUUYKUOT U CPeAHOBEKOBHWOT Nepuog,.
[leHec, BO 0BOj pervoH ce npojos/kKysa Tpaguunjata 3aa Npon3BOLCTBO Ha BMHO, BO
6/11M3nHa Ha rpafgoT v nokanuTeToT “baprana-lropHo Mone”, kako n Bo cenarta opeH
n OoneH bansaH, Tpu Yewmn n 3aropyn. Ce mcrtakHysaat v Tpu BuHapun: 3K
LipBeHa Sse3ga, Vimako n AHeBCKU E3muT.

Tpajue Haues
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Fig 1.Wine press carved into the rock of the village of Gomo Pole Star Karaorman.

Fig 2.Winery Bargala
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Fig 3.Room 1

Fig 4.Room 2, wine presses
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Fig 5.Wine press 1
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Fig 6.Wine press 2
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Fig 7.Substruction wine presses in the room 2

Fig 8 Stone bowl sediment collector
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Fig 10. th Amphora from the area of the village Zagorci.
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